RECEIVED

Feb 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID DEMIAS WHITE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001528

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MOLLY M. KEEGAN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant appellant's motion to sever his homicide by child abuse charge from the unlawful neglect of a child charges because the multiplication of distinct charges prejudiced his right to a fair trial?

II.

Whether the trial court abused its discretion by admitting autopsy photographs of the deceased child, A.W., during trial where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because the graphic autopsy photographs were unnecessary and designed to inflame the passions of the jury?

III.

Whether the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to limit Dr. Lamb's testimony because it impermissibly bolstered Dr. Presnell's testimony and conclusion as to the cause of A.W.'s death and allowed the state to vouch for their credibility during its closing argument?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2024, the Lancaster County grand jury indicted appellant for one count of homicide by child abuse and six counts of unlawful neglect of a child. R *(Indictments). On August 26, 2024, his case was called to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. Vol. 1 Tr. 1. Melissa McGinnis and Luck Campbell represented the state, and William Frick represented appellant. Vol. 1 Tr. 1. The jury ultimately found appellant guilty as indicted. Vol. 3 Tr. 361, l. 24 – 362, l. 24. Judge Hocker imposed a 25-year total sentence comprised of 25-years for the homicide child abuse charge and 10-years as to each unlawful neglect charge, set to run concurrently. Vol. 3 Tr. 383, ll. 8-14. Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal. R *(Notice of appeal).

This brief follows.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant appellant's motion to sever his homicide by child abuse charge from the unlawful neglect charges because the multiplication of distinct charges prejudiced his right to a fair trial.

Standard of Review

“A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court and should not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” *State v. Beekman*, 415 S.C. 632, 636, 785 S.E.2d 202, 204 (2016) (quoting *State v. Tucker*, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996)). “In criminal cases, an appellate court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous.” *State v. Bryant*, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. Wise*, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

Relevant facts

Pretrial motion and hearing

Prior to trial, on August 16, 2024, appellant filed a written motion requesting severance of charges. R *(Motion to sever). He argued that a concurrent trial on the indictments, which concerned separate and distinct incidents, was unfairly prejudicial pursuant to Rule 403 of the South Carolina rules of evidence and did not satisfy the test for joinder of charges.¹ R *(Motion to sever). He asserted that the fourth prong was not met because a trial for homicide by child

¹ Appellant cited *Beekman* for the test for joinder of charges which provides that to join charges, the charges must: (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) be proved by the same evidence, (3) be of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant is prejudiced. R *(Motion to sever).

abuse and several unlawful neglect charges² presented a substantial risk to appellant's right to a fair trial due to the number of charges and allegations for those separate incidents. R *(Motion to sever). Ultimately, he argued that because of the number of charges and the allegations the jury was likely to render a verdict on an improper basis. R *(Motion to sever). Thus, appellant requested severance of charges because the joinder of charges was unfairly prejudicial, and any probative value did not outweigh the unfairly prejudicial effect. R *(Motion to sever).

On August 21, 2024, the court held a pretrial hearing concerning, in part, appellant's motion to sever. Mtn Tr. 3, ll. 2-9.³ Appellant emphasized that the focus of his argument was the prejudice versus the probative value of severing the charges. Mtn Tr. 3, ll. 17-20. He argued that it was extremely prejudicial to try several neglect cases alongside the homicide by child abuse case. Mtn Tr. 4, ll. 7-9. He argued that it was more prejudicial than probative due to the sheer number of cases and the potential for the jury to determine that because all the children were neglected "we're just going to punish him because – because we don't like the way the case looks." Mtn Tr. 4, ll. 16-22.

The state responded that the charges arose out of the same set of circumstances and the same witnesses would be presented. Mtn. Tr. 5, ll. 16-21. The state argued that it was important for the charges to be presented together to show that this was not a mistake. Mtn. Tr. 5, 21-22. The state cited several cases for the court to consider. Mtn. Tr. 6, ll. 2-18. The state argued that the appellate courts were allowing these cases to be tried together if the first three prongs were met but noted that it did not have "anything that determines or that says what the prejudice –

² In this case, appellant was charged with six counts of unlawful neglect of a child, which represented a separate charge for each of appellant's remaining children. R *(Indictments).

³ The Honorable Donald B. Hocker presided over the hearing. Mtn. Tr. 1. Melissa McGinnis and Nicole Wine appeared for the state, and William Frick represented appellant. Mtn. Tr. 1.

what they're looking at for that.” Mtn. Tr. 6, 19-24. Appellant clarified if they were simply trying the neglect charges, he would not be moving for severance. Mtn. Tr. 9, ll. 5-7. He argued that he was requesting to sever the homicide charge from the neglect charges. Mtn. Tr. 9, ll. 7-8.

Trial

During pretrial motions, the court put the defense motion to sever on the record. Vol. 1 Tr. 72, ll. 4-9. Appellant reiterated his arguments from the virtual hearing and cited *Tucker* as to the fourth prong for joinder of charges concerning prejudice. Vol. 1 Tr. 72, ll. 14-23. He argued that his concern was the volume of cases, specifically, that there was a deceased child which was alleged to have died from neglect and six more children with neglect charges which was “just overwhelming.” Vol. 1 Tr. 72, l. 24 – 73, l. 5. He asserted that he was concerned the jury would look at the case and determine that “he’s guilty of something because he’s got all these charges.” Vol. 1 Tr. 73, ll. 5-7. He concluded that a real right of the appellant was affected because the jury may be allowed to reach a conclusion on an improper basis due to the number of charges and the particular allegations. Vol. 1 Tr. 73, ll. 7-12. The state reiterated its arguments from the virtual hearing and highlighted the value of the first three prongs. Vol. 1 Tr. 73, l. 16 – 74, l. 9.

The court denied defense’s motion to sever the homicide charge from the neglect charges. Vol. 1 Tr. 74, ll. 10-12. The court stated that it reviewed nine cases, all of which upheld the trial judge denying a motion for severance. Vol. 1 Tr. 74, ll. 12-19. The court cited *State v. McGaha*⁴ for the proposition that if the charges could come in under a 404 *Lyle*⁵ basis it was further support that the evidence was more probative than unfairly prejudicial. Vol. 1 Tr. 74, ll. 19-25. The court determined that it was important that the same witnesses would testify as to all the

⁴ See *State v. McGaha*, 404 S.C. 289, 744 S.E.2d 602 (Ct. App. 2013).

⁵ See *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

charges and thus ruled that there was no unfair prejudice outweighing the probative value. Vol. 1 Tr. 75, ll. 1-5.

Renewed severance motion

As relevant, after Dr. Lamb, a forensic child abuse pediatrician, concluded her testimony, the defense noted that it failed to continue its severance motion when objecting to Dr. Lamb's testimony. Vol. 2 Tr. 306, ll. 10-12. Defense counsel noted that he did not make a contemporaneous objection but wanted the record to reflect that he objected to the testimony. Vol. 2 Tr. 306, ll. 16-21. He continued that he believed that the court, based on its prior rulings, would have overruled his objection. Vol. 2 Tr. 306, ll. 19-21. The court responded that it thought defense counsel was protected. Vol. 2 Tr. 306, l. 22.

Discussion

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant appellant's motion to sever his six unlawful neglect charges from the homicide by child abuse charge because there was a substantial risk of prejudice to appellant concerning his right to a fair trial.

“Charges can be joined by the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) be proved by the same evidence, (3) be of the same general nature, and (4) *no real right of the defendant is prejudiced.*” *Tucker*, 324 S.C. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 265 (1996) (citing *State v. Tate*, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (Ct. App. 1985) (emphasis added). “Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial [court] has the power, in [its] discretion, to order the indictments tried together *if the defendant's substantive rights would not be prejudiced.*” *State v. Rice*, 368 S.C. 610, 614, 629 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct. App. 2006) (alterations in original, emphasis added).

In *Tyler v. State*, this Court concluded that Tyler’s substantive rights were violated because trying the charges of second-degree sexual exploitation of a minor with criminal solicitation of a minor, contributing to the delinquency of a minor, and disseminating harmful material to a minor created the risk that the jury would wrongfully convict him on one set of charges based on evidence only admissible as to the other. 437 S.C. 17, 32, 876 S.E.2d 132, 139 (Ct. App. 2022).

However, as discussed by Justice Pleicones in his dissent in *State v. Cutro*, “we have long recognized, circumstances might arise which would render a uniting of several counts unjust to the defendant.” 365 S.C. 366, 380, 618 S.E.2d 890, 897 (J. Pleicones, dissenting) (citing *City of Greenville v. Chapman*, 210 S.C. 157, 162, 41 S.E.2d 865, 867 (1947) (internal quotations omitted). Particularly, “[e]ven where joinder is permissible, the trial court must be mindful of protecting the defendant’s right to a fair trial because by the multiplication of distinct charges, the prisoner may be confounded in his defense, or prejudiced in his challenges, or the attention of the jury may be distracted.” *Id.* (internal quotations and alterations omitted).

In appellant’s case, the trial court abused its discretion because it failed to properly consider the significant prejudice appellant would suffer to his rights from the joinder of his charges. *Beekman*, 415 S.C. at 636, 785 S.E.2d at 204; *Wise*, 359 S.C. at 21, 596 S.E.2d at 478. The trial court merely ruled that no unfair prejudice outweighed the probative value of a trial on all charges. Vol. 1 Tr. 75, ll. 1-5. However, such a finding overlooks the impairment of appellant’s right to a fair trial and the prejudice he would suffer by facing trial on both the unlawful neglect and homicide by child abuse charges. See *State v. Reaves*, 414 S.C. 118, 125, 777 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2015) (“The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States constitution guarantees a defendant’s fundamental right to a fair trial.”) (citing U.S.

Const. amend. XIV); *see also State v. Thompson*, 420 S.C. 386, 398, 803 S.E.2d 44, 50 (Ct. App. 2017) (“Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.”).

While it is true that evidence of the six unlawful neglect charges may have been admitted during a separate trial for the homicide by child abuse charge, it cannot be said that the volume of evidence permitted during a joint trial, where the state had the burden to prove each element of each unlawful neglect charge, would be permissible in a separate trial. *See McGaha*, 404 S.C. at 298, 744 S.E.2d at 606-07 (determining that evidence of McGaha’s molestation of the other children would be admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE, as proof of a common plan or scheme if the state could establish a logical connection between the crimes by showing a close degree of similarity). For example, because these charges were tried together, the state presented extensive evidence from Dr. Lamb concerning her evaluation of abuse and neglect for the remaining six children. *See generally* Vol. 2 Tr. 160-202. Through Dr. Lamb, the jury heard significant testimony concerning medical neglect as to each child, the sleeping spaces for the children, nutritional concerns, concerns of physical abuse for some of the children, and that physical needs were not met for the children. *See generally* Vol. 2 Tr. 160-202. Of note, Dr. Lamb testified she had concerns about possible physical abuse as to two of the children. Vol. 2 Tr. 182, ll. 24-25; 196, ll. 15-20; 197, ll. 11-18. While evidence of the existence of appellant’s unlawful neglect charges may have come in during a separate trial, it is less certain that specific testimony about concerns for physical abuse for two of the children would be admissible in a separate trial for the deceased child (hereinafter, A.W.), where there was no concern of physical abuse related to A.W. Vol. 2 Tr. 281, ll. 14-17. Evidence of physical abuse pertaining to other children is highly prejudicial and the prejudicial effect of that testimony would have to be considered at a separate trial. *See Cutro*, 365 S.C. at 374-75, 618 S.E.2d at 894 (citing *State v. Braxton*, 343 S.C. 629,

541 S.E.2d 833 (2001) (explaining that in the evidentiary context “bad act evidence that falls within a *Lyle* exception and meets the clear and convincing standard may still be excluded if the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence.”).

Moreover, as argued below, the number of unlawful neglect charges and evidence presented to support those charges had the significant potential to influence the jury’s verdict. R *(Motion to sever); Mtn. Tr. 4, ll. 7-22; Vol. 1 Tr. 72, l. 14 – 73, l. 12; *see also State v. Heath*, 433 S.C. 506, 513, 860 S.E.2d 673, 677 (Ct. App. 2021) (“Prejudice occurs when there is a reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury’s verdict.”). Notably, the interplay of the charges may have influenced the jury to convict on the homicide by child abuse charge merely because the state presented evidence that appellant neglected his other six children or convict on the unlawful neglect charges because the state presented evidence that appellant contributed to the death of his child through neglect, both of which would be improper reasons to render a guilty verdict. In fact, witnesses made similar inferences between the conduct underlying the separate charges during the trial. For example, Dr. Lamb testified that in making the determination of the cause of A.W.’s death, and looking at the other siblings, she was “trying to see if there’s any pattern, anything that I could see.” *See* Vol. 2 Tr. 226, ll. 8-12. The suggestion of a pattern between the six children and A.W. demonstrates the prejudice appellant suffered by having his charges tried together and provides a direct example in the record of an improper basis upon which the jury may have rendered their verdict. *But see State v. Tallent*, 430 S.C. 438, 446-47, 845 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2020) (finding no prejudice where the trial court did not sever Tallent’s delinquency of a minor charge from his first and second degree criminal sexual conduct and lewd act upon a child because evidence of “Tallent’s use, manufacture, and sale of cocaine, crack cocaine, and methamphetamine would have a tendency

to suggest an improper basis upon which a jury could rely upon in finding he committed CSC or a lewd act.”). Even further, given the nature and particular allegations of the charges, appellant’s case presents a circumstance where the uniting of several counts is unjust. *See Cutro*, 365 S.C. at 380, 618 S.E.2d at 897 (J. Pleicones, dissenting).

Therefore, because the joinder of charges presented a substantial risk to appellant’s right to a fair trial and the resultant trial ultimately prejudiced appellant, the trial court abused its discretion by denying appellant’s motion to sever his charges. This Court should reverse.

II.

The trial court abused its discretion by admitting autopsy photographs of the deceased child, A.W., during trial where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because the graphic autopsy photographs were unnecessary and designed to inflame the passion of the jury.

Standard of Review

The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographs are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion. *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003).

Relevant facts

During trial, the parties stipulated that the seven children at issue were the biological children of appellant and Shaquanda Page.⁶ Vol. 3 Tr. 4, l. 24 – 5, l. 1, 7; 11, ll. 15-21. The state presented evidence that the A.W. died of dehydration and malnutrition. Vol. 2 Tr. 286, ll. 4-9. The state further contended that the remaining six children experienced neglect at varying degrees. *See generally* Vol. 2 Tr. 160-202.

On February 22, 2021, officers were called to appellant's residence regarding an unconscious child. Vol. 2 Tr. 53, ll. 7-16. Appellant's neighbor testified that appellant knocked on her door around 9:30 p.m. because his baby was not breathing. Vol. 2 Tr. 40, ll. 2-7. Page called 911 and appellant attempted to perform CPR while Page was on the phone. Vol. 2 Tr. 45, ll. 4-24. When officers arrived at the scene, A.W. was located lying unconscious in the kitchen.

⁶ At the time of appellant's trial, Page had been convicted of one count of homicide by child abuse and six counts of unlawful neglect towards a child. Vol. 3 Tr. 71, l. 25 – 72, l. 5. The jury heard that Page had been convicted of those charges. Vol. 3 Tr. 71, l. 25 – 72, l. 5. During sentencing, the state informed the court that Page entered an *Alford* plea and received a 27-year total sentence. Vol. 3 Tr. 372, ll. 2-3.

Vol. 2 Tr. 55, ll. 6-12. A firefighter performed CPR and A.W. was transported to MUSC-Lancaster where she was ultimately pronounced dead. Vol. 2 Tr. 55, ll. 13-17; 56, ll. 16-23; 57, ll. 10-14. During the investigation into A.W.'s death, a detective sergeant for the Lancaster police department determined that more information was needed as to the cause of A.W.'s death, so an autopsy was ordered. Vol. 2 Tr. 112, l. 20 – 113, l. 1. An autopsy of A.W. was performed on February 24, 2021. Vol. 2 Tr. 298, ll. 6-8.

Pretrial motion to exclude autopsy photographs

Prior to trial, on August 23, 2024, defense counsel filed a written motion to exclude A.W.'s autopsy photographs as unfairly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE, and *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 759 S.E.2d 160 (Ct. App. 2014). R *(Motion to exclude). He further argued that the photographs were not necessary for a full presentation of the state's case nor were the photographs necessary for the state to prove the elements of their case. R *(Motion to exclude).

Pretrial argument concerning autopsy photographs

The court heard argument concerning the defense motion to exclude the autopsy photographs before trial began. Vol. 1 Tr. 93, ll. 2-5. The state cited *Heyward*,⁷ *Benton*,⁸ and *Jones*,⁹ and argued that our courts have instructed to not put in “things that don't have anything to do with the case.” Vol. 1 Tr. 93, ll. 9-22. The state argued that in this case the autopsy was performed the next day, and no decomposition was involved. Vol. 1 Tr. 93, ll. 22-24. The state continued that it did not intend to enter any photographs of A.W. “being cut up or anything of that.” Vol. 1 Tr. 93, l. 25 – 94, l. 2. The state emphasized that this was a neglect case about

⁷ See *State v. Heyward*, 441 S.C. 484, 895 S.E.2d 658 (2023).

⁸ See *State v. Benton*, 443 S.C. 1, 901 S.E.2d 701 (2024).

⁹ See *State v. Jones*, 440 S.C. 214, 891 S.E.2d 347 (2023).

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