RECEIVED

Jun 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001528

The State,Respondent,

v.

David Demias White,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Chief Deputy Coroner Collins also described Victim 1's condition. She testified that when she first saw Victim 1 lying in the hospital bed in the ER it was obvious that she had signs of dehydration and maybe malnourishment because "her ribs were very visible" and "she looked sickly." Collins described Victim 1 as looking like "a holocaust victim." (R.p.469, line 17-p.470, line 4).

As the State neared the end of its case in chief, Appellant's counsel raised an issue with the trial court regarding other photos of Victim 1. He acknowledged he had originally objected

to *all* of the autopsy photos and *all* of the ER photos; however, he now thought there might be a couple of ER photos he was interested in introducing in support of his defense. The solicitor said once counsel let her know which photos the defense wanted to introduce, the State may not object. (R.p.663-p.664). During a subsequent discussion, the solicitor clarified that the trial court had previously ruled to admit only six autopsy photos, but had ruled to exclude *all* of the ER photos, and that Appellant had now changed his mind and was seeking to introduce four of the previously excluded ER photos. Counsel explained Appellant still did not want any of the photos to come in and that he was not waiving his objection to the autopsy photos the court previously admitted; however, because the court had allowed those six photos in, he believed he needed the use the ER photos as part of his efforts to “deal with” the autopsy photos. Counsel acknowledged Appellant was opening the door to the State’s use of all ER photos, but counsel, the solicitor, and trial court agreed this would not open the door to admission of any additional autopsy photos. The solicitor advised she intended to introduce the ER photos through the next witness. (R.p.686-p.689).

During the State’s direct examination of Agent May, the ER photos were admitted as State’s Exhibits 231 through 233 and 236 through 246, “subject to what has already been placed [by Appellant] on the record.” Agent May proceeded to describe the photos, including those that showed Victim 1’s blue fingernails, the dried feces on her feet and groin area, and her sunken eyes. (R.p.694-p.698; State’s Exhibits 231-233; 236-246).

During the State’s closing argument, the solicitor referenced the testimony elicited from Dr. Presnell, first focusing on the external examination and the autopsy photos, and then talking about the internal examination. The solicitor acknowledged the photos were hard to look at, but argued they were incredibly important and asked the jurors to pay close attention to them

because they demonstrated what Victim 1 looked like. She argued it supported Dr. Presnell's observation that as soon as she looked at Victim 1, she could tell it was a child who was malnourished and dehydrated. The solicitor referenced the testimony about Victim 1's sunken eyes and cheeks, her concave belly, the lack of fat on her body, and her ribs. (R.p.931, line 20-p.933, line 2). Later, when describing the testimony from Dr. Lamb, the solicitor mentioned both the autopsy photos *and* the ER photos which showed Victim 1 was emaciated with no visible fat. (R.p.946, lines 4-7). During Appellant's closing argument, counsel asked the jurors to focus on the ER photos of Victim 1, arguing they looked different from the autopsy photos and showing she was not as emaciated that night as she appeared two days later at the autopsy. (R.p.994, lines 4-23).

During the sentencing proceeding, Appellant's counsel commented that he knew the autopsy photos were something that would be difficult to overcome. He said he understood the trial court's ruling, which was why he made the objections, but explained how the photos compounded the difficulty he had in defending Appellant. (R.p.1030, line 20-p.1031, line 2).

Law / Analysis

Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCORE; *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 127, 551 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2001). Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Rule 401, SCORE; *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2002). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCORE; *Nelson*, 440 S.C. at 420, 891 S.E.2d at 511; *Saltz* 346 S.C. at 127, 551 S.E.2d at 247; *State v. Cooley*, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000). "To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable

probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence." *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). "Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis." *Id.* at 529, 732 S.E.2d at 229. "If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Our supreme court has explained that when balancing the danger of unfair prejudice against the probative value of evidence, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27-28 (2014).

"[I]t is well-established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial." *Nelson*, 440 S.C. at 420, 891 S.E.2d at 511; *State v. Jones*, 440 S.C. 214, 259, 891 S.E.2d 347, 371 (2023); *State v. Middleton*, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986)). Under this well-established precedent, our supreme court has consistently recognized since at least 1986 that "gruesome" autopsy photographs carry the inherent tendency to cause an emotional reaction on the part of the jury. *State v. Heyward*, 441 S.C. 484, 501, 895 S.E.2d 658, 667 (2023). In *Nelson*, it discussed a long line of cases which criticized the casual admission of gruesome autopsy photographs because of the emotional reaction they tend to cause. *Nelson*, 440 S.C. at 420-26, 891 S.E.2d at 511-13. In every case in which the State seeks to introduce gruesome autopsy photographs, therefore, the trial court must acknowledge the significant danger that the photos will cause unfair prejudice. *Heyward*, 441 S.C. at 502, 895 S.E.2d at 667.

In Appellant's case, it is abundantly clear the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the six redacted autopsy photos of Victim 1. First, while the photos are clearly disturbing, they simply cannot be considered "gruesome" by common definition or under the well-established caselaw of South Carolina. The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language defines "gruesome" as: "causing horror and repugnance; frightful and shocking."² Merriam-Webster similarly defines "gruesome" as: "inspiring horror or repulsion."³ In *Heyward*, the State offered two autopsy photos that showed what the victim's head looked like after the pathologist "reflected" her scalp, which involved pulling the scalp forward over the face to expose the inside of the scalp and the tissue normally covered by the scalp. *Heyward*, 441 S.C. at 500, 895 S.E.2d at 666-67. In *Nelson*, the State offered three autopsy photos, two of which were close-up photos of the victim's head and neck wounds which showed partial decomposition of her body, and a third which depicted the victim lying on her stomach, showing stab wounds on her back and her swollen head. *Nelson*, 440 S.C. at 418, 891 S.E.2d at 510. Unlike those unquestionably gruesome photos, the photos of Victim 1 admitted here simply show the condition of her body before the pathologist began her internal examination. They do not show decomposition or any wounds, save a small bruise on her forehead. It is inescapable that the autopsy photos of Victim 1 were unpleasant, but they were simply not "gruesome.;" therefore, the significant danger described in *Heyward* did not exist. Second, the trial court *did* recognize the potential that photos of Victim 1 might hold for causing prejudice. As a result, it repeatedly ruled in favor of ameliorating that potential prejudice by: excluding the ER photos, limiting the

² The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, <https://www.ahdictionary.com/word/search.html?q=gruesome> (last visited April 17, 2026).

³ Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/gruesome> (last visited April 17, 2026).

State to using pre-internal examination autopsy photos, redacting the six photos admitted, and prohibiting them from being enlarged on the big screen in the courtroom.

Surely our courts have long warned the State not to overplay its hand in criminal trials by seeking to admit shockingly graphic photographs that have scant probative value in violation of Rule 403, SCRE, just to inflame the passions of the jury. Here, the State did no such thing. As noted above, the photographs at issue in *Nelson* were autopsy pictures of the victim's decomposing and disfigured body. They could corroborate nothing but the prosecutor's overreach. By contrast, the pictures here were relevant as they depicted Victim 1's condition at the time of her death, in a way a mere description of her condition was unable to convey. Their value was recognized by Dr. Presnell when she told the trial court the photos would assist with her expert testimony. They drew probative force from their power to prove the elements of HBCA. The pictures gave important context to the testimony and other evidence about the circumstances showing Appellant's mental state of extreme indifference. Under the specific circumstances of this case, the pictures assisted the jury in their task to understand key evidence. Therefore, they were properly admitted.

Finally, despite Appellant's claims to the contrary, a review of the trial court's ruling to admit the autopsy photos shows it conducted an entirely adequate Rule 403 analysis and sufficiently placed that analysis on the record. The trial court found the probative value outweighed any unfair prejudice once the autopsy photos were redacted so as not to show the lower half of Victim 1's naked body. The trial court further explained it specifically relied upon our supreme court's analysis in *Heyward* in reaching its conclusion. These findings were made in compliance with our supreme court's reminder that: "we stress the importance of placing on the record arguments and rulings that took place off the record, whether during a bench

conference, in emails, or in chambers.” *State v. Benton*, 443 S.C. 1, 8-10, 901 S.E.2d 701, 704-05 (quoting *State v. Washington*, 431 S.C. 394, 405 n.4, 848 S.E.2d 779, 785 n.4 (2020)). For all of these reasons, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the six redacted, non-gruesome autopsy photographs. If this Court disagrees and finds the photos were admitted in error, any such error was harmless in view of the overwhelming evidence presented of guilt, such that it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. The trial court should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012); *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Only errors so substantial that they result in a verdict which would not otherwise have been rendered require reversal. *State v. Jolly*, 304 S.C. 34, 39, 402 S.E.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1991). “A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case.” *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447-48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). “No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *Id.* at 447-48, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193-94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990)). A defendant seeking reversal based on error in admission of evidence has the burden of showing that evidence was prejudicial. *State v. McElveen*, 280 S.C. 325, 327, 313 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1984).

Here, any error in the admission of the six redacted autopsy photos was harmless because their introduction did not affect the result of the trial. *See Byers*, 392 S.C. at 447, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (“Where ‘guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other

rational conclusion can be reached,' an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless." (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006)). The record is loaded with compelling evidence incriminating Appellant of each of the crimes for which he was charged. From the evidence establishing the deplorable conditions of the apartment, to the descriptive testimony from multiple witnesses as to Victim 1's emaciated appearance, to the expert testimony offered about the cause of death, it is clear the autopsy photographs themselves did not contribute to the verdict in any significant way. This is particularly true in light of Appellant's request to admit four ER photos which Appellant readily acknowledged opened the door to admission of all ER photos, and which showed Victim 1's condition and physical appearance. (State's Exhibits 231-233; 236-246).

For all of these reasons, the State submits this argument should be denied and dismissed, and Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

III.

The trial court properly permitted Dr. Lamb to offer her independent expert opinion as to Victim 1's cause of death because she testified as a forensic pediatrician, with a different background and different area of expertise than Dr. Presnell, who offered her own expert opinion as to Victim 1's cause of death as a forensic pathologist. In any event, any possible error in admitting Dr. Lamb's opinion was harmless under the circumstances of the case because her testimony did not reasonably affect the result of the trial given the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Appellant argues the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to limit Dr. Lamb's testimony because it impermissibly bolstered Dr. Presnell's testimony and expert opinion as to the cause of Victim 1's death, and because it allowed the State to vouch for her credibility during its closing argument. He contends Dr. Lamb's testimony only served to bolster the conclusions later drawn by Dr. Presnell concerning Victim 1's cause of death, particularly where Dr. Lamb

never met with Victim 1 and merely reviewed Dr. Presnell's autopsy report and other records. Appellant further contends Dr. Lamb's testimony as to Victim 1's cause of death was merely cumulative and therefore should have been excluded under the Rule 403, SCRE, language that says relevant evidence should be excluded if it constitutes a "needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Finally, Appellant argues the error in admitting Dr. Lamb's testimony is illustrated by the State's closing argument, claiming that by noting Dr. Lamb agreed with Dr. Presnell, the state vouched for the credibility of Dr. Presnell. (Brief of Appellant, p.27-p.36). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit.

Under the deferential standard of review, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Dr. Lamb to offer her independent expert opinion as to Victim 1's cause of death because she testified as a forensic pediatrician, with a different background and different area of expertise than Dr. Presnell, who offered her own expert opinion as to Victim 1's cause of death as a forensic pathologist. The decision was supported by ample evidence in the record showing Dr. Lamb and Dr. Presnell were testifying from different backgrounds and different areas of expertise. Furthermore, the decision was not controlled by an error of law; therefore, it should be affirmed. In any event, even if this court disagrees and finds Dr. Lamb's testimony as to Victim 1's cause of death was admitted in error, any error was harmless in view of the overwhelming evidence presented of guilt, such that it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review – Admission of Expert Testimony

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